
 
 

 
eastsussex.gov.uk 

LEAD MEMBER FOR EDUCATION AND INCLUSION, SPECIAL 
EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILITY 
 
DECISIONS to be made by the Lead Member for Education and Inclusion, Special Educational 
Needs and Disability, Councillor Bob Standley 
 
MONDAY, 11 SEPTEMBER 2023 AT 12.15 PM  
 
REMOTE MEETING VIA MICROSOFT TEAMS 
 
 
AGENDA 
 
1.   Decisions made by the Lead Cabinet Member on 24 July 2023  (Pages 3 - 4) 

 
2.   Disclosures of interests   

Disclosure by all Members present of personal interests in matters on the Agenda, the 
nature of any interest and whether the Member regards the interest as prejudicial under 
the terms of the Code of Conduct 
 

3.   Urgent items   
Notification of items which the Lead Member considers to be urgent and propose to 
take at the end of the appropriate part of the Agenda 
 

4.   Holy Cross Church of England Primary School  (Pages 5 - 10) 

Report by the Director of Children’s Services. 

 
5.   Household Support Fund (fourth round)  (Pages 11 - 14) 

Report by the Director of Children’s Services. 

 
6.   Any urgent items previously notified under agenda item 3   

 
 
 
 
PHILIP BAKER 
Assistant Chief Executive   
County Hall, St Anne’s Crescent 
LEWES BN7 1UE 1 September 2023 
 
Contact Belinda Trunfull, Governance and Democracy Officer,  
01273 335230 
Email: belinda.trunfull@eastsussex.gov.uk  
 
NOTE: As part of the County Council’s drive to increase accessibility to its public meetings, this 
meeting will be broadcast live on its website. The live broadcast is accessible at: 
www.eastsussex.gov.uk/yourcouncil/webcasts/default 
 
 

http://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/yourcouncil/webcasts/default.htm


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

LEAD MEMBER FOR EDUCATION AND INCLUSION, SPECIAL 
EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILITY 

 

DECISIONS made by the Lead Member for Education and Inclusion, Special Educational 
Needs and Disability, Councillor Bob Standley, on 24 July 2023 at Remote Meeting via 
Microsoft Teams  

 

 
Councillor Kathryn Field spoke on item 4 (see minute 19) 
 
 
15. DECISIONS MADE BY THE LEAD CABINET MEMBER ON 21 JUNE 2023  
 
15.1 The Lead Member approved as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 21 
June 2023. 
 
16. DISCLOSURES OF INTERESTS  
 
16.1 There were none. 
 
17. URGENT ITEMS  
 
17.1 There were none. 
 
18. REPORTS  
 
18.1 A copy of the reports referred to below is included in the minute book. 
 
19. PROPOSED REORGANISATION OF GROVE PARK SCHOOL  
 

19.1 The Lead Member considered a report by the Director of Children’s Services with 
regard to publishing a statutory proposal in respect of the proposed reorganisation and 

expansion of Grove Park School. 

 
DECISIONS 
 
19.2 The Lead Member RESOLVED to:  

 
1) approve publication of a statutory proposal in respect of the proposed reorganisation and 
expansion of Grove Park School; and  
 
2) delegate authority to the Director of Children’s Services to amend the proposal prior to its 
publication if required.  
 
REASONS 
 
19.3 The Local Authority is proposing to reorganise provision at the school by lowering its age 
range, bringing the primary, secondary and sixth form phases together on one site and 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



 

 

 

 

expanding its overall capacity to meet the increasing demand for places with effect from 1 
September 2025. The majority of respondents to the consultation are supportive of the proposal. 
 

 

Page 4



 
 

Report to: Lead Member for Education and Inclusion, Special Educational Needs and 
Disability 

Date: 11 September 2023 

By: Director of Children’s Services 

Title of report: Holy Cross Church of England Primary School 

Purpose of report: To seek Lead Member approval to publish a statutory proposal in relation to the 
proposed closure of Holy Cross Church of England Primary School. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The Lead Member is recommended to: 
 

1. approve publication of a statutory proposal in respect of the proposed closure of Holy Cross 
Church of England Primary School on 31 December 2023; and 

 
2. delegate authority to the Director of Children’s Services to amend the proposal prior to its 

publication if required. 
 
 
1. Background 
 
1.1 On 22 May 2023, the Lead Member for Education and Inclusion, Special Educational Needs and 
Disability (“the Lead Member”) considered a report on the future of Holy Cross Church of England Primary 
School. 
 
1.2 As described in the report, Holy Cross Church of England Primary School (“the school”) is a 
Voluntary Aided (VA) school located in Uckfield.  It has a Published Admission Number (PAN) of 30 and 
capacity for 210 pupils.  In recent years, the school has faced many challenges relating to leadership, 
retention of staff, quality of provision and low pupil numbers.  Despite significant support from both East 
Sussex County Council (“the local authority”) and the Diocese of Chichester (“the diocese”), these 
challenges remain.  As a result, the school is considered extremely vulnerable.  The challenges were set out 
in the Report to Lead Member for Education and Inclusion, Special Educational Needs and Disability on 22 
May 2023. 
 
1.3 Having considered the report, the Lead Member gave approval for the local authority to commence 
a statutory consultation on a proposal to close the school on 31 December 2023. 
 
2. Consultation 
 
2.1 In accordance with Section 15 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 (“the EIA 2006”) (as 
amended) and the School Organisation (Establishment and Discontinuance of Schools) Regulations 2013 
(“the Regulations”), the local authority consulted on the proposed closure of the school between 9 June and 
21 July 2023.  The local authority consulted with the school community, local schools, and other key 
stakeholders as prescribed in the Regulations.  Consultation meetings were held for staff and parents and 
carers on 21 June 2023. 
 
2.2 By the end of the consultation period 41 responses had been received, 38 via the local authority’s 
consultation hub and three via the consultation inbox or the consultation meetings.  

 
2.3 In response to question 1 ‘Do you support the proposal to close Holy Cross CE Primary School on 
31 December 2023?’: 
 

 21% support the proposal 

 71% do not support the proposal 

 5% are undecided 

 3% did not answer 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4

https://democracy.eastsussex.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=456&MId=5632&Ver=4
https://democracy.eastsussex.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=456&MId=5632&Ver=4


2.4 The respondents described themselves as: 
 

 3% are pupils at Holy Cross CE Primary School 

 26% are parents/carers of a child at Holy Cross CE Primary School 

 3% are members of staff at Holy Cross CE Primary School 

 21% are parents/carers of a child at a local school 

 13% are members of staff at a local school 

 6% are governors at a local school 

 28% classified themselves as ‘other’ or did not provide an answer this part of the question. 
  
2.5 34 respondents answered question 2 ‘If Holy Cross CE Primary School was to close, how would 
this directly impact on you and your family?’.  From the information above and the comments received 
indications are that 17 respondents (41% of total responses) would be directly affected as they are either a 
child / have a child(ren) at the school or have a child(ren) at the on-site third party nursery. 
 
2.6 Several key concerns arose from the consultation responses.  These are set out below, along with 
the local authority’s response to each point. 
 
2.7 The impact on staff and children 
The impact on the mental health and wellbeing of staff and children is a concern for respondents.  The local 
authority will ensure that support is available to staff, children and their families for mental health and 
emotional wellbeing through support sessions and transition activities. 
 
2.8 The sufficiency of school places in the town 
Families of children at the school are concerned that there are insufficient places in other schools for their 
children.  From the analysis the local authority has undertaken we believe there would be sufficient school 
places for the children currently at the school as below.  At the May 2023 schools census there were 26 
children on roll at the school, as set out in Table 1 below. 
 
Table 1 

Holy Cross CE 
Primary School 

Primary total number on roll 

Year R Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 Total 

1 1 5 4 7 0 8 26 

Source: May 2023 School Census 
 
Across the other four schools in Uckfield there were 1,019 children on roll at the May 2023 schools census 
against a capacity of 1,050.  This is illustrated in Table 2. 
 
Table 2 

Uckfield primary 
schools 

Primary capacity and primary total number on roll (May 2023 schools census) 

Year R Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 Total 

Year group capacity 150 150 150 150 150 150 150 1,050 

Year group NOR 139 144 151 151 154 131 149 1,019 

Surplus places 11 6 0 0 0 19 1  

Source: May 2023 School Census 
Uckfield schools: Harlands Primary School, Manor Primary School, Rocks Park Primary School, St Philip’s 
Catholic Primary School. 
 
At the same time, there were 559 children on roll in the five rural primary schools surrounding Uckfield 
against a capacity of 630.  See Table 3 below. 
 
Table 3 

Rural primary 
schools 

Primary capacity and primary total number on roll (May 2023 school census) 

Year R Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 Total 

Year group capacity 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 630 

Year group NOR 59 72 84 89 96 78 81 559 

Surplus places 31 18 6 1 0 12 9  

Source: May 2023 School Census 
Surrounding rural schools: Bonners CE Primary School, Buxted CE Primary School, Fletching CE Primary 
School, Framfield CE Primary School, Little Horsted CE Primary School. 

Page 6



 
It should be noted that the Year 6 cohorts in each school have since transitioned from primary to secondary 
education to be replaced by a new Reception (Year R) cohort in the 2023/24 academic year.  There are 
likely to be 137 Year R children on roll across the Uckfield schools (none at Holy Cross CE Primary School) 
and 79 in the five rural schools. 
 
Based on the information provided above, it is possible that should the school close on 31 December 2023, 
places would be tight in the area in Years 3, 4 and 5.  However, unlike at Key Stage 1 there is no class size 
limitation at Key Stage 2 and schools regularly have classes in excess of their PAN in those year groups.  
The local authority would work with local schools to ensure there are sufficient places available for children 
displaced from Holy Cross Church of England Primary School.  In some instances, this may mean schools 
going over PAN in particular year groups.  The local authority would support schools to ensure that they can 
effectively manage the increased number of children. 
 
Parents and carers of children at the school would be given the opportunity to express a preference for a 
place at an alternative school.  Parents and carers would be asked to complete an admissions application 
form and to name up to three schools they would prefer their child/ren to attend.  Parents and carers would 
be offered a school place either at one of their preferred schools named on the application form or, if this is 
not possible, at the nearest school to the child’s home where a place is available.  We would try to meet 
parents and carers preferences wherever possible but cannot guarantee to do so.  The allocation of places 
would be made in line with the admissions policy as set out in the school admissions booklet which is 
available on the local authority’s website at: 
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/educationandlearning/schools/admissions/ 
  
Free home to school transport would be provided for eligible pupils who meet the criteria set out in the link 
below. https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/educationandlearning/schools/transport/ 
 
2.9 The impact on places of new housing developments in the town 
Concern was raised in the consultation responses about the pressure that new housing developments in the 
town will create on schools and that more places would be needed, not less.  The local authority’s pupil 
forecasts take account of housing growth in each school planning area based on information provided 
annually by local planning authorities.  Although unlikely to create pressure in the short term, the 
development of 1,000 new homes at Ridgewood Farm to the southwest of the town is likely to generate a 
significant number of school age children in the medium to long term.  Given the size of the development, a 
primary school will be required to serve the new houses.  For this reason, the local authority has an option 
agreement on land within the development site for a new school and will bring forward proposals at the 
appropriate time to establish provision in the area.  Holy Cross Church of England Primary School would not 
be easily accessible for families living in the new homes. 
 
2.10  The impact on the third party nursery 
A number of respondents raised concerns about the future of the on-site third party nursery.  Were the 
nursery to close as a result of the school closing, the local authority believes there would be sufficient early 
years places in the local area to meet demand.  In summer 2023, the nursery had 18 children on roll (9 full-
time equivalent).  Currently there are in excess of 30 surplus full-time equivalent places in the town based 
on August 2023 early years data. 
 
2.11 Question 3 asked ‘Please let us know if you have any alternative suggestions on how we should 
address the challenges the school faces, as set out in the document’.  These are set out below, along with 
the local authority’s response to each point. 
 
2.12 Appoint a permanent headteacher to drive forward change 
As set out in the 22 May 2023 Lead Member report, due to the decreasing number of pupils on roll and 
increasing pressure on its budget the school is unable to afford a substantive full-time headteacher. 
 
2.13 Re-brand and promote the school with better funding 
The local authority and the diocese have supported the school to try to identify a long term solution including 
partnering with other schools and academy trust options, without success.  The low pupil numbers and 
resulting impact on the school’s budget means it has not proved an attractive proposition for school 
partners.  Significant additional financial resource has already been provided by the local authority; no other 
funding is available.  Re-branding the school by itself would not address these significant issues. 
 

Page 7

https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/educationandlearning/schools/admissions/
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/educationandlearning/schools/transport/


2.14 Reduce the Published Admission Number (PAN) at all Uckfield schools to spread the 
children more fairly 
Holy Cross Church of England Primary School has suffered from a lack of popularity in the local community 
for some years.  Reducing the PAN as suggested would create organisational and budgetary challenges for 
the other schools in the town and would not necessarily address the popularity of Holy Cross Church of 
England Primary School in terms of the number of families selecting it as their first preference school.  This 
suggestion could result in fewer families being offered a place at their preferred school. 
 
2.15 Create an outreach special school on the school site  
No consideration has been given to what might happen to the site were the school to close.  Part of the site 
is owned by the local authority and part by the Diocese.  The local authority and the diocese would consider 
the future of the site only if a decision is made to close the school. 
 
2.16 A consultation summary report, providing a more detailed analysis of the responses received 
during the consultation period, is available to view in the Cabinet and Members rooms at County Hall. 
  
3. Statutory proposal 
 
3.1 Based on the information above, the local authority believes it is appropriate to continue with the 
proposed closure process by publishing a statutory proposal.  If approved, a statutory proposal would be 
published in accordance with the EIA 2006 and the Regulations, providing interested parties with a further 
opportunity to comment on or object to the proposal.  It is intended that a statutory notice would be 
published on the local authority’s consultation hub in September 2023.  The notice would also be published 
in the local newspaper and posted on the entrances to the school.  Publication of the notice would trigger a 
four-week period of representation during which interested parties could comment on the proposal. 
 
3.2 The local authority has a duty to determine the proposal within two months of the end of the 
representation period.  We anticipate that a final decision on the proposal would therefore be taken at the 
Lead Member decision-making meeting in November 2023.  
 
3.3 The Lead Member is required to have ‘due regard’ to the duties set out in Section 149 of the 
Equality Act 2010 (the Public Sector Equality Duty) in determining the proposal.  An Equality Impact 
Assessment (EqIA) is being undertaken as part of the statutory process to identify any equality implications 
of the proposal and to address any concerns through appropriate mitigations.  The EqIA will be reported to 
Lead Member prior to a final decision being taken on the proposal. 
 
4. Conclusion and reasons for recommendations  
 
4.1 The majority of respondents to the consultation object to the proposed closure of the school, with 
concerns being raised about the impact on staff and children’s mental health and emotional wellbeing and 
the sufficiency of school places in the area.  However, the challenges the school has faced remain and will 
be made worse by the reduction of pupil numbers in the last year.  No alternative suggestions have been 
identified through the consultation process that would address these critical issues. 
 
4.2 The consultation responses have not identified any potential solutions or actions to address the 
issues the school faces.  The views of the local authority and the diocese about the viability of the school 
remain the same.  The very low pupil numbers, the challenge of securing appropriate leadership and 
teaching staff for the school and the concerns over the quality of education that children are receiving leads 
us to conclude that closing the school at the earliest opportunity is in the best interests of the children and 
the school community.  The local authority would work with local schools to ensure there would be sufficient 
places available in the local area for children displaced from Holy Cross Church of England Primary School 
were it to close following the statutory process. 
 
4.3 In conclusion, the Lead Member is recommended to: 
 

1. approve publication of a statutory proposal in respect of the proposed closure of Holy Cross 
Church of England Primary School on 31 December 2023; and 
 

2. delegate authority to the Director of Children’s Services to amend the proposal prior to its 
publication if required. 

 

Page 8



 
 
ALISON JEFFERY 
Director of Children’s Services 
 
Contact Officer: Gary Langford 
Tel: 07584262521 
Email: gary.langford@eastsussex.gov.uk 
 
LOCAL MEMBERS 
  
Councillor Claire Dowling 
Councillor Chris Dowling 

Page 9

mailto:gary.langford@eastsussex.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



  

 

 

Report to: Lead Member for Education and Inclusion, Special Educational 
Needs and Disability 

Date of meeting: 11 September 2023 

By: Director of Children’s Services 

Title: Household Support Fund (fourth round) 

Purpose: To note the proposed Children’s Services use of a proportion of the 
latest round of the Household Support Fund (“the Fund”) and agree 
the development of a scheme to distribute grant funding as set out in 
the report. 

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

The Lead Member is recommended to: 

1) Approve the proposed use of £1,896,000 of the Household Support Fund, to provide 
support to households with children between 1 October 2023 – 31 March 2024; and 

2) Delegate to the Director of Children’s Services authority to implement the scheme. 

 

1 Background 

1.1 On 17 November 2022, Government announced in the Autumn Statement that the Fund 
would be extended for a fourth time to support those most in need. The extension runs from 1 April 
2023 – 31 March 2024.  

1.2 East Sussex County Council has been allocated £7,793,568 for the new grant period.  

1.3 The Lead Member for Education and Inclusion, Special Educational Needs and Disability 
and the Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Health approved the use of 50% of the Fund for the 
six-month period 1 April 2023 – 30 September 2023 at their meetings on 27 February 2023 and 2 
March 2023. It was agreed that a further report setting out proposals for the use of the Fund for the 
last six months would be considered in September 2023.  

1.4 The criteria for Fund are broadly the same as for the previous round:  

 Groups intended to benefit are households with children, households with pensioners, 
households with a disabled person and other vulnerable households. Informal i.e. unpaid  
carers are also included in this round, as a group that Local Authorities should try to 
reach.  

 There is an emphasis on providing support to households that are in the most need – 
particularly those who may not be eligible for other support that the Government has 
made available. The Government expects residents to be able to contact authorities to 
enquire as to eligibility. 

 The type of eligible spending remains the same as in previous rounds: helping households 
with everyday essentials, including food, water, energy bills and, in exceptional cases, 
with housing costs. The only addition is the inclusion of the provision of supplementary 
advice services to award recipients, including debt and benefit advice, which has become 
eligible for funding under this scheme. The guidance highlights that energy needs might 
be of particular concern and that “Local Authorities should prioritise supporting 
households with the cost of energy.”  

 The guidance also indicates that at least part of the spending should be application based, 
i.e. that residents should have the opportunity to request support. The definition is flexible, 
and applications can be made directly via the authority or via third parties.  

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



  

 

 

2 Supporting information 

2.1  Distributing the grant to the same partners that East Sussex worked with last time would 
ensure continuity in the allocation of support to the full range of beneficiary groups. The proposal for 
distributing the grant to partners takes into account the widening impact of cost-of-living pressures. 

2.2 The proposed distribution of the grant to households in need for this round is set out in the 
table below: 

Allocations Table - (1 October 2023 – 31 March 2024) 

Partner  Amount (£) Note 

Free School Meal eligible pupils 20,575 
(2-19 years) 

Huggg food vouchers 

1,646,000 £15 for October half term 
£15 for February half term 
£50 for Christmas holidays 

 
Total of £80  
(40% of total funding) 

Children's Services Teams 250,000  

Voluntary, community and social 
enterprise (VCSE) partners 

700,000  

Districts and Boroughs 1,050,568  

Foodbanks and Food Partnerships 250,000  

Total 3,896,568 
 

 

2.3  The portion of the Fund that the Children’s Service’s Department will manage is £1,896,000. 
The proposal is to provide food vouchers to eligible free school meal pupils of £15 for each of the 
October and February half-terms, and £50 for the Christmas holiday period. There are 
approximately 20,575 pupils eligible for free school meals. £250,000 will also be distributed via 
Children’s Services teams directly to vulnerable families in need. 

 

3. Conclusion and reasons for recommendations  

3.1 The scheme provides a further opportunity to extend support to households with children, 
households with pensioners, households with a disabled person and other vulnerable households 
within East Sussex who are experiencing financial challenges.  

3.2 The Lead Member is recommended to approve the proposed use of £1,896,000 of the Fund, 
to provide support to households with children and to delegate to the Director of Children’s Services 
authority to implement the scheme. 

  

ALISON JEFFERY 

Director of Children’s Services 

Contact  

Contact Officer: Jessica Stubbings, Head of Education: Participation and Planning 
Email jessica.stubbings@eastsussex.gov.uk     

Page 12

mailto:jessica.stubbings@eastsussex.gov.uk


  

 

 

Telephone 07827 084705 
 
LOCAL MEMBERS  
All 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

None 

 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Decisions made by the Lead Cabinet Member on 24 July 2023
	4 Holy Cross Church of England Primary School
	5 Household Support Fund (fourth round)

